2006

Kirkpatrick MacDonald v. Michael Nielsen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has original appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(3)(j). Pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(4), this matter was assigned to the Utah Court of Appeals, by Order of the Utah Supreme Court, dated July 6, 2006, and effective July 26, 2006.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. **Issue:** Does defendant's affidavit raise a genuine issue of material fact as to plaintiff's entitlement to relief, with respect to the claim or any defense thereto, such that the trial court erred when it granted plaintiff's motion for summary judgment?¹

Standard of Review: "Because the propriety of . . . a summary judgment . . . presents questions of law, we accord no deference to the trial court's determinations and review the issues under a correctness standard." *Harmon City, Inc. v. Nielsen & Senior*, 907 P.2d 1162, 1167 (Utah 1995). "We review the trial court's summary judgment for correctness, considering only whether the trial court correctly applied the law and correctly concluded that no disputed issues of material fact existed." *Hermansen v. Tasulis*, 2002 UT 52, at ¶10, 48 P.3d 235, 238. "Summary judgment is appropriate only 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.' When we review a grant of summary judgment, 'we view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.'" *Id.* at 239 (citations omitted).

¹This issue subsumes and includes all possible subsidiary issues.

APPLICABLE STATUTES AND RULES

UTAH R. CIV. P. 56:

Rule 56. Summary judgment.

(c) Motion and proceedings thereon. The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

(d) Case not fully adjudicated on motion. If on motion under this rule judgment is not rendered upon the whole case or for all the relief asked and a trial is necessary, the court at the hearing of the motion, by examining the pleadings and the evidence before it and by interrogating counsel, shall if practicable ascertain what material facts exist without substantial controversy and what material facts are actually and in good faith controverted. It shall thereupon make an order specifying the facts that appear without substantial controversy, including the extent to which the amount of damages or other relief is not in controversy, and directing such further proceedings in the action as are just. Upon the trial of the action the facts so specified shall be deemed established, and the trial shall be conducted accordingly.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

The judgment appealed from was entered upon a summary judgment of liability and damages for a debt alleged to be owing from defendant to plaintiff upon a promissory note.

B. Course of Proceedings.

Plaintiff/appellee filed suit to recover sums he alleged were owing to him by appellant individually. Plaintiff moved for summary judgment, which was granted by the

trial court in a Ruling and Order, dated January 10, 2006. R. 309-318. Before judgment was entered, defendant filed a motion for leave to file a third-party complaint, which was opposed by the plaintiff. R. 325-329.

On January 24, 2006, judgment was entered in favor of plaintiff, while the motion for leave to file a third-party complaint was pending. R. 340-342. June 2, 2006, the trial court entered its order granting the motion to allow a third party complaint and entering findings under UTAH R. CIV. P. 54(b) to make its January 19, 2006 Judgment entered on summary judgment final. Before such findings were entered, appellant had filed a Notice of Appeal on February 22, 2006, which appeal was pending before the Utah Court of Appeals as Case No. 20060177CA. R. 397-400.

On June 29, 2006, defendant filed his notice of appeal with respect to the trial court's June 2, 2006 Ruling and Order, which was assigned Case No. 20060614. On July 31, 2006, this Court entered its order consolidating the appeals.

C. Disposition By Trial Court.

The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of plaintiff, but the third-party complaint of the defendant has not been dismissed. Proceedings are being held in abeyance pending the outcome of this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Defendant and Appellant Nielsen resides in Summit County, Utah and is the managing member of an entity known as The Ridge at Red Hawk, LLC, a Utah limited liability company ("The Ridge"), which is the successor in interest to an entity known as Nielsen Redhawk, LLC ("NR"). Affidavit of Michael Nielsen ("Nielsen Aff.") at ¶ 1, R. 54-55. Although plaintiff's motion for summary judgment was directed strictly to the terms of a specific note, whether liability currently exists on such note involves

not simply the loan in question, but an entire partnership relationship between entities owned by the parties relating to a large real estate development in Summit County, the dissolution of which has already been the subject of an arbitration award. *Id.*

2. The plaintiff in this action, Kirkpatrick MacDonald (“MacDonald”), is a partner in MacDonald Redhawk Investors (“MRI”), a New York general partnership and a member in Redhawk Development Company, LLC (“RDC”), a Utah limited liability company, both of which are MacDonalds in another action in the Third District Court, Summit County, State of Utah, against The Ridge, Nielsen, Redhawk Management, LLC (“RM”) and NR, as defendants, assigned Case No. 050500229. In that action, MRI and RDC seek to “quiet title” to real property that has been divided by virtue of an arbitration award dissolving RDC (the “Award”), which award was entered by a panel of three American Arbitration Association arbitrators (the “Panel”), after an arbitration in which the Panel first calculated Nielsen’s and MacDonald’s equity interests in RDC. MacDonald, himself characterized his personal involvement in RDC, in “Claimant’s Arbitration Brief,” a genuine copy of which is attached to the affidavit of the defendant as Exhibit “A”: “Kirk MacDonald through MacDonald Redhawk Investors, LLC (MacDonald RH) has invested \$4,894,000 in the Project since May 1997” Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 2, R. 55 and Nielsen Aff. Exhibit A, R. 63 and R. 92-94.

3. MacDonald, himself, characterized one of the “realities” of the arbitration proceeding to be: “Mr. MacDonald’s dire need and right to protect his investment.” R. 63.

4. MacDonald, himself, noted for the arbitrators as a material point in the proceeding before them: “Mike Nielsen, alone has derived \$2,557,426.69 in direct economic benefits from the Redhawk project (\$250K in cash payments; \$1,830,763.50

in property retained; and over \$476K in proceeds from a financing with the Beehive Credit Union).” R. 63, n. 1.

5. The entire arbitration proceeding went forward, by mutual agreement between defendant and MacDonald, to analyze their individual positions in RDC with respect to the assets and liabilities of RDC and how to divide the Project between them, using their respective entities as investment vehicles. Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 5, R. 56.

6. After the Panel decided that RDC should be dissolved and the property partitioned between The Ridge and MacDonald, the Panel asked each party to make a “baseball” arbitration proposal, for the purpose of fairly dividing all assets and liabilities of RDC between them. Defendant’s “baseball” proposal was adopted by the arbitrators as the fairest split between the parties, based on all the financial considerations of RDC and the parties’ equity interests in RDC. Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 7, R. 56.

7. When defendant prepared the “baseball” proposal he submitted and the Panel adopted, defendant did so with the understanding and intent, as expressed by MacDonald in Claimant’s Arbitration Brief, that the final award would resolve all financial considerations of RDC and divide between MacDonald and defendant all of the assets and liabilities. One of the liabilities that defendant specifically took into account in defendant’s mind when making the baseball proposal adopted by the Panel was the very loan at issue in this case. While the complaint herein and motion for summary judgment attempt to make it appear as though defendant received the money, personally, that is not true. Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 8, R. 56-57. Every penny of the loan was intended to be spent for, and was spent for, the purpose of paying debts for the Project, to the benefit of RDC. The document reflecting the loan specifically references the intended purpose of the loan to pay Project vendors: “At your request, in order to see

that local or long overdue invoices are paid, I have today wired your Red Hawk Ranch account at Zions the sum of \$60,000.00. I understand that Messrs. Gaskill and Gillette have also advanced \$60,000.00 toward local vendor payables.” *Id.* and Exhibit 1 to MacDonald Affidavit filed in support of motion for summary judgment, R. 30.

8. At the time that loan was made, there was a bitter dispute ongoing between MacDonald and another partner, Mr. Gaskill. MacDonald told defendant that MacDonald did not want to make the loan to RDC so long as Mr. Gaskill was a partner, so MacDonald asked defendant to sign personally, but with the understanding that defendant, then, would advance the funds to the benefit of RDC, thereby creating a creditor relationship with RDC. Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 9, R. 57. The loan specifically contemplated that it would be reworked when Mr. Gaskill was gone, by its language: “We may eventually recast it in some other manner depending on how things develop.” Mr. Gaskill in fact left, but then differences developed between MacDonald and defendant. *Id.* and Exhibit 1 to MacDonald Affidavit, R. 32.

9. The loan was never an issue until the arbitration proceeding. Defendant in fact does not recall ever receiving the unsigned letter, dated July 13, 1999, attached as Exhibit 2 to MacDonald’s affidavit, and believes that he did not receive it. Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 10, R. 57-58. Defendant did, however, learn through e-mails received in the arbitration, that MacDonald during that time period was scheming with his lawyers and others about ways to eliminate defendant’s interest in RDC. R. 142-244. Defendant therefore infers that the letter now attached to MacDonald’s affidavit may have been one of the proposed schemes, but that instead of going forward on that route, in light of Mr. Gaskill being gone and the prior understanding defendant had with MacDonald about redoing the loan when Mr. Gaskill was gone, that MacDonald and his attorney

elected instead to go forward with an arbitration to dissolve RDC. Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 10, R. 58.

10. That inference is reinforced by the fact that MacDonald caused a Complaint to be filed in Third District Court, the following month, on August 30, 1999, seeking an order to compel an arbitration over dissolution of RDC to be completed no later than November 1, 1999, for the pleaded purpose of allowing “disputes within [RDC to] be resolved sufficiently before January, 2000 to allow each Member adequate time to negotiate settlements with the creditors with claims against the portions of the Property that each Member receives through binding arbitration.” R. 245-250. From that point forward, the statements of MacDonald made clear that all issues surrounding RDC were to be resolved through the arbitral dissolution. This would include the loan at issue in this case, which would be paid from the RDC dissolution, since it was a debt incurred by RDC to me, to be repaid to MacDonald. Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 11, R. 58-59.

11. The monies advanced to RDC pursuant to that loan should have been, and defendant believes were, booked as liabilities of RDC and thus, even pursuant to the Arthur Andersen report prepared for MacDonald, would have been taken into account by the Panel in its equity determination, as it was taken into account by defendant in determining the reasonableness of the “baseball” proposal defendant made that was adopted by the Panel as the Award. Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 12, R. 59.

12. The Panel's Award contains no written explanation of its reasoning. The Panel did agree to meet with the parties about the Award, and such a meeting took place in the office of James R. Holbrook, shortly after the Award was issued. Defendant recalls that, present at that meeting on defendant's behalf were defendant, Steve Ross, who was defendant's project manager, and Robert Stoelbarger, who was

defendant's lawyer, on behalf of MacDonald were MacDonald, a brother of MacDonald, Steve Wood, who was MacDonald's California lawyer, Thomas Billings, who was MacDonald's Utah lawyer and the three arbitrators, James R. Holbrook, Alan Funk and Philip Cook. During Mr. Holbrook's explanation of the Panel's reasoning and intent, Mr. Wood said: "What about my client's \$60,000 personal loan to Nielsen?" Mr. Holbrook responded by clarifying the Panel's intent in handling the loan: "That was included in the 40/60 split [of equity]." Nielsen Aff. at ¶ 14, R. 59-60.

13. Defendant understood MacDonald to have agreed that the loan subject of this action was part and parcel of the arbitration, MacDonald's conduct in the arbitration and his lawyer's question to the Panel evidenced MacDonald's own knowledge that such loan had been accounted for in the dissolution of RDC and defendant relied on the impression that defendant received from MacDonald during the entirety of the arbitration proceeding that such loan was being resolved as part of the dissolution when defendant formulated and proposed the "baseball" arbitration proposal that was adopted by the Panel as their Award. *Id.*

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

MacDonald persuaded the trial court that the controversy presented for resolution involved one simple transaction. The trial court ignored the long and complex relationship between the parties, of which the transaction at issue was only one component, while acknowledging that the documents upon which the plaintiff relied referred to those other transactions and relationships. Ruling and Order, R. 365.

On summary judgment, the facts pleaded in defendant's affidavit, and the attachments thereto, must be considered as true and, if true, those facts effectively demonstrate material issues as to whether the obligation was intended by the parties to

be an individual obligation of defendant, whether the form of the transaction was to have been “recast” upon the exit of one of the partners and, indeed, whether the obligation was intended to have been included in the final arbitration award entered which was to have resolved the disputes between the parties.

ARGUMENT

I. APPLICABLE STANDARD:

A lower court’s ruling on a summary judgment motion is reviewed for correctness. “‘Because a summary judgment presents questions of law, we accord no particular deference to the court of appeals’ ruling and review it for correctness.” *Machock v. Fink*, 2006 UT 30, ¶ 8, 137 P.3d 779, 782. “A trial court’s grant or denial of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness.” *Snow v. Rudd*, 2000 UT 20, ¶ 9, 998 P.2d 262, 265. “Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *SME Industries, Inc. v. Thompson, Ventulett, Stainback, and Assoc., Inc.*, 2001 UT 54, ¶ 9, 28 P.3d 669, 673 (citing UTAH R. CIV. P. 56(c)). “Doubts, uncertainties or inferences concerning issues of fact must be construed in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. Litigants must be able to present their cases fully to the court before judgment can be rendered against them unless it is obvious from the evidence before the court that the party opposing judgment can establish no right to recovery. The trial court must not weigh evidence or assess credibility.” *Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, Chartered*, 681 P.2d 1258, 1261 (Utah 1984) (footnotes omitted). See also UTAH R. CIV. P. 56.

“[A]ll undisputed material facts [must be considered] in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party” (*IHC Health Services, Inc. v. D & K Management, Inc.*, 2003

UT 5, ¶ 6, 73 P.3d 320, 323), and “all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom [must be viewed] in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party[.]” (*Alder v. Bayer Corp.*, 2002 UT 115, ¶ 25, 61 P.3d 1068, 1076). A single sworn statement of fact on a material question of fact is sufficient to defeat a summary judgment motion. See *Apache Tank Lines, Inc. v. Cheney*, 706 P.2d 614, 616 (Utah 1985) (per curiam) (“ ‘A single sworn statement is sufficient to create an issue of fact.’ ”) (quoting *Webster v. Sill*, 675 P.2d 1170, 1172 (Utah 1983)).

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD THERE WERE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT IN ITS ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

The “Note” on which this action is based consists in fact of a letter from MacDonald, (who is now the putative assignee of MRI), to Nielsen. R.6. In its summary judgment ruling, the trial court stated: “On its face a portion of this letter agreement is clear, but as a whole it is less clear.” R.315. “As a whole” is, of course, how contracts must be construed. See *Sears v. Riemersma*, 655 P.2d 1105, 1108 (Utah 1982)(courts “look[] at the entire contract and all of its parts in relation to each other, giving an objective and reasonable construction to the contract as a whole.”). Nevertheless, the trial court found the Note unambiguous.² *Id.* This finding was in error. The trial court’s determination that the Note was unambiguous is a question of law. *Interwest*

²The trial court made no finding as to integration. Yet there is no question, under Utah law, that the determination of whether a document was intended to be an integration is a question of fact, not law. See *Tates, Inc. v. Salisbury*, 795 P.2d 1140, 1142 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (“Whether a particular expression is an integration of the contract is a question of fact, and evidence both within and without the claimed integration is admissible to determine whether it is indeed an integration.”) As the language of the Note, itself, and the Affidavit of C. Michael Nielsen shows, there was an understanding about when and under what circumstances the Note would be “recast” from a personal obligation of Nielsen to an RDC obligation. Thus, the Note could not qualify as an integration, or at least a fact issue is raised on that issue.

Construction v. Homer, 923 P.2d 1350, 1358 (Utah 1996) (“[d]etermining whether a contract is ambiguous presents a threshold question of law”); *Equitable Life & Casualty Ins. Co. v. Ross*, 849 P.2d 1187, 1192 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (“whether a contract is ambiguous is itself a question of law”) (quoting *Zions First Nat’l Bank v. National Am. Title Ins. Co.*, 749 P.2d 651, 653 (1988)). Thus, this Court “accord[s] a trial court’s interpretation of a contract no deference and review[s] it for correctness.” *Aquagen Int’l., Inc. v. Calrae Trust*, 972 P.2d 411, 413 (Utah 1998). The Note stated: “in order to see that local vendors’ long overdue invoices are paid, I have today wired to your Red Hawk Ranch account at Zions the sum of \$60,000.” R.6 The Note further states: “We may eventually recast it in some other manner, depending on how things develop.” *Id.* The Note, itself, does not say when or under what conditions the obligation would be recast, and so is plainly ambiguous.

The Affidavit of C. Michael Nielsen sets forth facts explaining that Mr. Gaskill’s presence as an RDC partner was the reason that MacDonald wanted the loan to be originally “personal” to Nielsen. R.57. The fact that the Note talks about “recasting” the obligation “depending on how things develop,” plainly raised an issue about whether the “things developing” would be the departure of Mr. Gaskill, which in fact occurred. See R.57. Mr. Nielsen’s understanding was that the recasting was to take place upon Mr. Gaskill’s departure. R. 58. That Nielsen in fact had that understanding and treated the obligation as “recast” is further shown by the fact that he included the obligation in the Baseball Arbitration Proposal he drafted. R. 56-57. MacDonald’s credibility in denying such intent to recast is brought into question by his hidden motivation to remove Nielsen from RDC R. 57-58.

Further, the affidavit sets forth a full factual context from which many inferences

favorable to Mr. Nielsen may be derived. Mr. Nielsen is the managing member of The Ridge, which is the successor in interest to an entity known as Nielsen Redhawk, LLC. R. 54-55. Although plaintiff's motion for summary judgment was directed strictly to the terms of a specific note, whether liability currently exists on such note involves not simply the loan in question, but an entire partnership relationship between entities owned by the parties relating to a large real estate development in Summit County, the dissolution of which has already been the subject of an arbitration award. *Id.*

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