2006

Kirkpatrick MacDonald v. Michael Nielsen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j), because this appeal has been transferred to this Court from the Utah Supreme Court, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4). See R. at 410, 458.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented on appeal is as follows:

1. Whether the district court correctly entered summary judgment in favor of MacDonald on the personal loan.

A district court's decision to grant or deny summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. Harline v. Barker, 912 P.2d 433, 438 (Utah 1996). "Because entitlement to summary judgment is a question of law, [an appellate court is to] accord no deference to the trial court's resolution of the legal issues presented." Id. In conducting this *de novo* review, the appellate court should "apply the same standard as that applied by the trial court." Durham v. Margetts, 571 P.2d 1332, 1334 (Utah 1977). The standard applied by the trial court is set forth in Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). Summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

These issues were preserved in the trial court by motion. See R. at 016 (MacDonald's motion); R. at 037-53 (opposition memorandum); R. at 252-99 (reply memorandum); R. at 309-18 (Ruling and Order).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES

Appellee does not believe that interpretation of any constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations will be determinative of this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the 1980s and 1990s, certain real estate developers began purchasing property located to the north of Kimball Junction in Summit County with an eye toward developing the land into large, high-end residential parcels. Among these developers were Appellant Michael Nielsen (“Nielsen”) and Appellee Kirkpatrick MacDonald (“MacDonald”).

In or about 1997, Nielsen, his wife, and two other individuals—John Gaskill (“Gaskill”) and David Gillette (“Gillette”)—were the principals of a Utah limited liability company called Redhawk Management LLC (“Redhawk Management”). Gaskill and Gillette, jointly, through an LLC of their own (called Redhawk Investors, LLC), owned 50% of Redhawk Management, and Nielsen and his wife, through an LLC of their own (called Nielsen Redhawk LLC (“Nielsen Redhawk”)), owned the other 50%. See R. at 111-12.¹

Among other holdings, Redhawk Management had (until 1997) owned 100% of another LLC, known as Redhawk Development LLC (“Redhawk Development”). Id. at 112. Redhawk Development owned substantial real estate holdings in the area north of Kimball Junction in Summit County. Because Redhawk Management wholly owned Redhawk Development at the time, Redhawk Management (e.g., Nielsen, Gillette, and Gaskill) had total control over the company and over the real estate holdings. Id. at 115.

¹ Helpful graphic depictions of these sometimes-confusing relationships between the various business entities are included in the record at pages 112-119.

In approximately 1997, the owner of Redhawk Development—at that time, Redhawk Management, owned in turn by Nielsen, Gillette, and Gaskill—sold 12.5% of Redhawk Development to MacDonald Redhawk Investors (“MRI”), a Utah limited partnership, for \$2.5 million. *Id.* at 0115-16. MRI was and is owned partially by MacDonald and partially by a foreign investor. *Id.* at 115. MRI was a passive investor, and was given “Class A” membership in Redhawk Development, meaning that MRI had no right to participate in management of the company. *Id.* That is, even after making its \$2.5 million investment and owning 12.5% of the company, MRI had no say in company management; those decisions continued to be made by Nielsen, Gillette, and Gaskill.

In April 1998, certain debts owed by Redhawk Management came due, and Redhawk Management apparently made a capital call on its shareholders. Gillette and Gaskill, as 50% owners, contributed an additional \$60,000 in cash to Redhawk Management. In order to maintain his LLC’s 50% ownership in the company, Nielsen also needed to contribute \$60,000 to Redhawk Management. Apparently, however, Nielsen did not have ready cash available to match Gillette’s and Gaskill’s additional investment, and asked MacDonald for a loan. *See R.* at 030. MacDonald did not own any direct interest in Redhawk Management, but because MRI owned a 12.5% passive interest in Redhawk Development (an entity wholly owned by Redhawk Management), MacDonald had some interest in seeing Redhawk Management pay its debts. Accordingly, MacDonald agreed to loan Nielsen \$60,000, and MacDonald and Nielsen memorialized this personal loan in a written memorandum from MacDonald to Nielsen. Nielsen initialed the memorandum, evidencing his agreement with its terms. *Id.* The memorandum states in its entirety as follows:

At your request, in order to see that local vendors' long overdue invoices are paid, I have today wired to your Red Hawk Ranch account at Zions the sum of \$60,000. I understand that Messrs. Gaskill and Gillette have also advanced \$60,000 toward local vendor payables.

As we agreed, I would like to consider this as a loan to you personally. Since you and Red Hawk Investors [Gillette's and Gaskill's LLC] are the Managing Members of Redhawk Management, which is solely responsible for the development and financing of the property, I believe that it is more appropriate that this advance come from you than me. And as I am aware of your own finances, I am happy to make this loan to you. Let's make it for 1 year. Interest free if paid within a year; 10% if not, for whatever reason. We may eventually recast it in some other manner, depending upon how things develop.

Could you be so kind as to initial this Fax and send a copy back to me so that my files show this as our intent?

Many thanks!

Id. (emphasis added) (a copy of this loan memorandum is also attached hereto, in the Addendum, as Exhibit A). As noted in the memorandum, MacDonald wired \$60,000 to Nielsen's account. Id. Nielsen does not ever say, in his affidavit supporting his opposition to the summary judgment motion, what he did with the funds, id. at 054-60, although he does state that "the intended purpose of the loan [was] to pay Project vendors," id. at 057, and argues later that "all of the loan proceeds" went "not to Nielsen but to" Redhawk Development, id. at 050. For the purposes of summary judgment below, and for the purposes of this appeal, MacDonald does not dispute (because irrelevant) that Nielsen used the borrowed funds for his contribution to Redhawk Management for payment of business debts associated with the Redhawk real estate project.²

² However, if there are subsequent proceedings in this matter, whether in the original case or in the third-party complaint proceedings, MacDonald does intend to look into whether the loan proceeds actually did go to pay debts associated with the real estate holdings.

It is undisputed that Nielsen never repaid the loan. And there is no evidence that the parties ever agreed upon a “recasting” of the loan.

In the summer of 1998, Gillette and Gaskill sold their interest in Redhawk Management, and, thereafter, the only owners of Redhawk Development were Nielsen Redhawk (Nielsen’s LLC) and MRI (MacDonald’s partnership). Id. at 118-19.

In July 1999, MacDonald sent a letter to Nielsen reminding him of the loan, and demanding repayment. See id. at 027, 032. Still, Nielsen did not repay the loan.

By late 1999, the relationship between MacDonald and Nielsen had deteriorated to the extent that MacDonald felt that he could no longer do business with Nielsen. On or about August 30, 1999, MRI filed a lawsuit in Third District Court seeking dissolution of Redhawk Development through arbitration. See R. at 245-50. Neither Kirkpatrick MacDonald nor Michael Nielsen, as individuals, were ever made parties to that lawsuit or to the ensuing arbitration proceeding.

From Third District Court, the case proceeded to arbitration before a panel of three arbitrators, chaired by James Holbrook (“Mr. Holbrook”). That panel first determined that MRI was entitled to 60% of the assets of Redhawk Development, and that Nielsen Redhawk was entitled to 40% of those same assets. Id. at 265. The panel then asked both parties for “baseball-style”³ arbitration proposals for the partitioning of the company’s real property holdings. Pursuant to that request, both parties submitted “baseball-style” proposals for the

³ A “baseball-style” arbitration proposal is where both parties submit proposals and the arbitrator is bound to pick one proposal or the other in its entirety, without altering either of the proposals in any way.

partitioning of the real property held by the company. See id. at 265-89. Those proposals were limited to real property, and did not make any suggestions for the division of any other company assets. The panel eventually selected Nielsen's baseball-style proposal for the division of the real property; that ruling is, in part and indirectly, the subject of a related appeal also pending in this Court. See MacDonald Redhawk Investors v. The Ridges at Redhawk, LLC, Case No. 20051063-CA (pending).

MacDonald does not believe that the arbitration panel, in issuing its award, ever considered the subject of the \$60,000 personal loan from MacDonald to Nielsen. Nielsen claims otherwise, but has no admissible evidence to support this contention. Despite Nielsen's claims below, see R. at 042, and on appeal, see Aplt. Br., at 5, there is absolutely no mention of the personal loan anywhere in Nielsen's baseball-style arbitration proposal, see R. at 265-73. There is no mention of the loan in MacDonald's baseball-style arbitration proposal. Id. at 275-89. Although Nielsen mentions Redhawk Development "financials that would include the loan obligation" and claims that these "financials" were used in the arbitration proceedings, see id. at 047, Nielsen does not ever cite to or produce any such "financials." Rather, Nielsen cites only to the following in support of his assertion that the loan was accounted for in the arbitration:

- "One of the liabilities that Nielsen specifically took into account *in his mind* when making his proposal as to how to divide the properties was the loan at issue in this case." Id. at 043 (emphasis added); see also Aplt. Br., at 5.
- The loan "should have been, and Nielsen *believes* [was], booked as liabilities of" Redhawk Development. R. at 045 (emph. added); see also Aplt. Br., at 7.
- "Nielsen understood MacDonald to have agreed that the loan . . . was part and parcel of the arbitration," and "Nielsen relied on the *impression* that he

received from MacDonald during the entirety of the arbitration proceeding that such loan was being resolved as part of the dissolution.” R. at 045 (emphasis added); see also Aplt. Br., at 8.

In short, the record does not include a single document associated with the arbitration panel’s decision that even mentions or alludes to the \$60,000 loan. Other than these subjective “impressions,” “understandings,” and “beliefs” in his own “mind,” the only thing Nielsen can point to is a memory of Mr. Holbrook having stated at a post-decision hearing that the loan “was included in the 40/60 split” of equity in Redhawk Development. See R. at 046; see also Aplt. Br., at 8. As discussed below, at page 14, this statement is hearsay and in any event has a perfectly innocuous explanation.

On the other side of the ledger, indicating that the loan was not considered by the arbitration panel, is a 2004 letter from Nielsen’s own attorney, four years after the arbitration award, discussing the issues that remained to be decided by the arbitration panel, and acknowledging that “a dispute exists regarding a claimed personal loan from Kirk MacDonald to Mike Nielsen” and stating that “Nielsen submits that the matter is not amenable to adjudication in this [arbitration] or any other forum.” See R. at 293.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

When Nielsen persisted in refusing to pay the amount due under the loan, MacDonald filed suit in the Third District Court, Summit County. Id. at 001-06. Nielsen answered, id. at 010-15, and the parties agreed on a discovery schedule, id. at 355-57. Nielsen, however, did not ever provide his Rule 26 initial disclosures as agreed upon, id. at 356-57, and so MacDonald proceeded to move for summary judgment.

MacDonald’s summary judgment motion was simple: MacDonald made a personal

loan to Nielsen for \$60,000, and Nielsen never repaid that loan. Because those facts are undisputed, MacDonald asked the district court to enter summary judgment in his favor in the amount of the loan plus prejudgment interest. *Id.* at 019-34.

Nielsen responded by filing a memorandum in opposition to the motion. In that response brief, Nielsen did not dispute MacDonald's assertion that there had been a loan, and did not dispute MacDonald's assertion that the loan had never been repaid by Nielsen to MacDonald. However, Nielsen claimed, *inter alia*, that the loan had been taken into account in the arbitration and therefore denied any further obligation to repay it. *Id.* at 037-53.

MacDonald filed a reply brief, pointing out, *inter alia*, that: not one single document associated with the arbitration panel's award ever once mentioned the \$60,000 personal loan; neither MacDonald nor Nielsen was ever made parties to the arbitration; there was no evidence that the loan had been considered by the panel in issuing its award; it was otherwise undisputed that the loan existed and had not been "recast"; and that Nielsen had not repaid it. *Id.* at 252-99.

After some delay, the district court heard oral argument on MacDonald's motion on January 9, 2006. MacDonald and his counsel were present for oral argument, but neither Nielsen nor his counsel appeared. *Id.* at 309. MacDonald's counsel presented oral argument, and the district court asked questions of counsel, and following the presentation the matter was submitted for decision.

The district court issued a written ruling and order the next day, granting MacDonald's motion, and finding that the loan memorandum was unambiguous and required Nielsen, personally, to re-pay MacDonald, personally, the amount of \$60,000 plus prejudgment

interest. Id. at 309-18. The ruling by the court ended the case, because it represented a summary judgment against Nielsen on all claims.

In the days following the issuance of the January 10 opinion, MacDonald's counsel prepared a judgment for signature and mailed it to Nielsen's counsel for review and comment. Nielsen objected, claiming the interest amount was too much, id. at 319-20, and MacDonald re-submitted the order with a lower face amount. The district court signed that re-submitted order on January 24, 2006, in the amount of \$100,304.66. Id. at 340-42.

On January 19, 2006, *after* the district court had issued its ruling granting summary judgment and during the period in which counsel were haggling over the form of the judgment, Nielsen filed a motion seeking leave to file a third-party complaint naming as third-party defendants Redhawk Development and MRI. Id. at 327-33. MacDonald opposed the motion on the grounds that, in view of the district court's ruling, the case was over, and on the additional ground that the motion was untimely because Nielsen had missed the agreed-upon deadline for adding additional parties. Id. at 343-76.

On June 2, 2006, the district court granted the motion, and allowed Nielsen to file a third-party complaint. Id. at 429-44. However, the district court also certified as final and appealable that part of its order that granted summary judgment to MacDonald on the loan. Id. at 442-43.

Nielsen appealed from both the January 10 and June 2 orders from the district court, id. at 397-400, 453-54, and those two appeals have since been consolidated.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal is simple and straightforward. It involves a loan from MacDonald to Nielsen that, by its plain terms, was a personal loan from one individual to another. It is undisputed that the loan was never “recast” or repaid. And there was absolutely no admissible evidence before the district court suggesting that the loan was part of the arbitration award. Nielsen owes MacDonald the money, and the district court correctly recognized that. For all of these reasons, and as more fully discussed below, the district court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of MacDonald should be affirmed in its entirety.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOAN IS, ON ITS FACE, AN UNAMBIGUOUS PERSONAL LOAN FROM MACDONALD TO NIELSEN

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